MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change



Climate Change Taxes and Energy Efficiency in Japan

Satoru Kasahara, Sergey Paltsev, John Reilly, Henry Jacoby and A. Denny Ellerman

Report No. 121 *May 2005* The MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change is an organization for research, independent policy analysis, and public education in global environmental change. It seeks to provide leadership in understanding scientific, economic, and ecological aspects of this difficult issue, and combining them into policy assessments that serve the needs of ongoing national and international discussions. To this end, the Program brings together an interdisciplinary group from two established research centers at MIT: the Center for Global Change Science (CGCS) and the Center for Energy and Environmental Policy Research (CEEPR). These two centers bridge many key areas of the needed intellectual work, and additional essential areas are covered by other MIT departments, by collaboration with the Ecosystems Center of the Marine Biology Laboratory (MBL) at Woods Hole, and by short- and long-term visitors to the Program. The Program involves sponsorship and active participation by industry, government, and non-profit organizations.

To inform processes of policy development and implementation, climate change research needs to focus on improving the prediction of those variables that are most relevant to economic, social, and environmental effects. In turn, the greenhouse gas and atmospheric aerosol assumptions underlying climate analysis need to be related to the economic, technological, and political forces that drive emissions, and to the results of international agreements and mitigation. Further, assessments of possible societal and ecosystem impacts, and analysis of mitigation strategies, need to be based on realistic evaluation of the uncertainties of climate science.

This report is one of a series intended to communicate research results and improve public understanding of climate issues, thereby contributing to informed debate about the climate issue, the uncertainties, and the economic and social implications of policy alternatives. Titles in the Report Series to date are listed on the inside back cover.

Henry D. Jacoby and Ronald G. Prinn, *Program Co-Directors*

Postal Address:	Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change 77 Massachusetts Avenue MIT E40-428 Cambridge MA 02139-4307 (USA)
Location:	One Amherst Street, Cambridge Building E40, Room 428 Massachusetts Institute of Technology
Access:	Phone: (617) 253-7492 Fax: (617) 253-9845 E-mail: globalchange@mit.edu Web site: http://MIT.EDU/globalchange/

For more information, please contact the Joint Program Office

🛞 Printed on recycled paper

Climate Change Taxes and Energy Efficiency in Japan

Satoru Kasahara^{*}, Sergey Paltsev, John Reilly, Henry Jacoby and A. Denny Ellerman

Abstract

In 2003 Japan proposed a Climate Change Tax to reduce its CO_2 emissions to the level required by the Kyoto Protocol. If implemented, the tax would be levied on fossil fuel use and the revenue distributed to several sectors of the economy to encourage the purchase of energy efficient equipment. Analysis using the MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) model shows that this policy is unlikely to bring Japan into compliance with its Kyoto target unless the subsidy encourages improvement in energy intensity well beyond Japan's recent historical experience. Similar demand-management programs in the U.S., where there has been extensive experience, have not been nearly as effective as they would need to be to achieve energy efficiency goals of the proposal. The Climate Change Tax proposal also calls for restricting Japan's participation in the international emission trading. We consider the economic implications of limits on emissions trading and find that they are substantial. Full utilization of international emission trading by Japan reduces the carbon price, welfare loss, and impact on its energy-intensive exports substantially. The welfare loss with full emissions trading is one-sixth that when Japan meets its target though domestic actions only, but Japan can achieve substantial savings even under cases where, for example, the full amount of the Russian allowance is not available in international markets.

Contents

1. Introduction	
2. Climate Change Policy in Japan	
3. Trends in Japan's Energy and Carbon Intensity	7
4. The Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) Model	
4.1. Economic Growth	
4.2. CO ₂ Emissions	
4.3. Energy Efficiency Improvement	
4.4. Energy Sector	
5. Simulation Results	
5.1 Comparison Using EPPA Reference Parameters	
5.2 Sensitivity Tests of Results	19
5.3 Likely Performance of Technology Subsidies	
6. International Emission Trading	
7. Conclusion	
8. References	

1. INTRODUCTION

Japan ratified the Kyoto Protocol in 2002 and adopted "The Guideline for Measures to Prevent Global Warming," which identified actions to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions with the goal of meeting the target specified in the Protocol (Government of Japan, 2002). The Guideline required several ministries to submit further reports on progress toward meeting the target and identifying additional actions as needed. A report of the Ministry of Environment of Japan (MOE, 2004a) emphasized a policy mix but with a central focus on a carbon tax. Other policies considered were domestic carbon emission trading, promoting energy research, development of a mandatory greenhouse gas accounting and reporting system, and the adoption of the daylight saving time in summer. The carbon tax, called the Climate Change Tax, was proposed by the Ministry in August 2003 (MOE, 2003). The proposed tax rate was 3400 yen per ton of carbon

^{*} Kasahara is employed by the Electric Power Development Co., Ltd. (J-Power) and is a visiting researcher at the MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change.

(yen/tC) emitted from the combustion of fossil fuels. The proposal would distribute the revenue from the tax to end-use sectors of the economy as a subsidy for a purchase of energy-efficient equipment. The MOE estimates that the Kyoto target for Japan could be met through this tax-and-subsidy method. The MOE report favors this domestic policy over international emission trading, which the report argues should be limited to 1.6% of the 1990 emissions. The Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry of Japan (METI) has made their interim report publicly available as well (METI, 2004). In contrast to the MOE, METI emphasized international emission trading as a major tool for greenhouse gas emissions reduction. METI objections to a carbon tax are based on their conclusion that it would be relatively ineffective in the residential and transportation sectors, would damage international competitiveness, and would result in carbon leakage.

The goal of this paper is to analyze the Climate Change Tax proposed by the MOE using the MIT Emission Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) model, a computable general equilibrium economic model that has been widely used to study climate change policy, and then consider the role international emissions trading scenarios as favored by METI could play in reducing economic impacts. For this analysis, we have adjusted some parameters of the EPPA model to make the results directly comparable to the MOE study. The MOE used the Asia-Pacific Integrated Model (AIM), which includes AIM-EndUse, AIM-Material, and AIM-TopDown components (AIM Project Team, 2003). AIM-EndUse is a bottom-up technology selection model that contains a detailed dataset of existing technologies and energy-related facilities. Results from this AIM component are central to the policy recommendations of the MOE.

The EPPA model structure differs from that of AIM-EndUse. The EPPA model can be considered a top-down model, representing technology by means of relatively aggregated production functions for each sector of the economy. However, on the energy side EPPA integrates bottom-up engineering information for energy production technologies (Jacoby *et al.*, 2004) The motivation for this study is a comparison of the results from two models that use different approaches to technology representation. We compare the projections with relevant historical experience of Japan, and of demand-side management programs in the U.S. that are in many ways similar to the proposed energy-efficiency subsidy scheme.

In the next section we describe the proposed climate change policy in Japan and summarize the results of the MOE study. In Section 3 we review the historical relationships between energy intensity and carbon intensity in Japan compared with other major industrial countries. In Section 4 we present the EPPA model and the adjustments we made for a proper comparison between the MOE analysis and our simulations. Section 5 describes the results of analysis of the climate change tax proposed by the MOE. In Section 6 we investigate the role of international emission trading and restrictions on its use in meeting Japan's Kyoto target. Section 7 summarizes our findings.

2. CLIMATE CHANGE POLICY IN JAPAN

Rising atmospheric concentrations of carbon dioxide and other gases emitted from burning of fossil fuels and other human activity may cause significant global warming in the absence of policy intervention. In response to this threat, Japan ratified the United Nations Framework

Convention on Climate Change and the Kyoto Protocol, which call for industrialized countries to limit their greenhouse gas (CO₂, CH₄, N₂O, HFC, PFC, SF₆) emissions. Japan's emissions target is to return to 6% below a base-year level during the first commitment period of the Protocol. The first commitment period runs from 2008 to 2012. The base-year for CO₂, CH₄, and N₂O is 1990. The Protocol permits some flexibility regarding the choice of a base-year for HFC, PFC, and SF₆ gases and Japan has chosen 1995 for them.

The role carbon sinks from land-use change could play in meeting the Kyoto Protocol targets was not fully agreed until the Conference of the Parties (COP) meeting in Marrakesh (UNFCCC, 2001). As a result of agreement there, specific limits on carbon sinks from forest management for each Party were established. Japan's sink limit was set at 13.0 million tons of carbon per year (MtC/year), or 47.7 million tons of CO₂ (MtCO₂/year). From **Table 1** one can see that the addition of the 47.7 MtCO₂/year to the target would reduce by more than one-half the reduction needed to get from base-year emissions of 1236.9 MtCO₂ to the original Kyoto target of 1162.7. This calculation somewhat overestimates the actual importance of sinks because, in the absence of climate policy, emissions in Japan are projected to grow above the base-year level. The full magnitude of the reduction effort is thus greater than the 74.2 MtCO₂ difference between the base-year emissions and the Kyoto target, and the possible contribution of sinks proportionally smaller. Nevertheless, the sink allocation is substantial given Japan's emissions and likely required reduction. It should be noted that while carbon dioxide emissions have grown since 1990, emissions of other greenhouse gases (GHGs) were lower in 2002 compared to their baseyear levels. MOE (2003) attributes this reduction to a decrease in domestic coal production, and thus lower methane emissions from that source, and voluntary measures by chemical producing firms that have limited emissions of other GHGs.

	CO ₂	CH₄	N ₂ O	HFC	PFC	SF ₆	Total	
1990	1122.3	24.7	40.2					Note:
1991	1131.4	24.6	39.7					MtCO ₂ e
1992	1148.9	24.5	39.9					indicates
1993	1138.7	24.4	39.7					CO_2 -equivalent emissions with
1994	1198.2	24	40.6					non-CO ₂ gases
1995	1213.1	23.3	40.8	20.2	12.6	16.9	1326.9	converted at
1996	1234.8	22.9	41.7	19.9	15.2	17.5	1352	FCCC approved
1997	1242	22.1	42.2	19.8	16.9	14.8	1357.8	global warming
1998	1195.2	21.5	40.8	19.3	16.5	13.4	1306.7	potentials
1999	1228.4	21.1	35.1	19.8	14.9	9.1	1328.4	(GWPs).
2000	1239	20.7	37.8	18.6	13.9	6.8	1336.8	
2001	1213.8	20.2	35.1	15.9	11.7	5.7	1302.4	
2002	1247.6	19.5	35.4	13.3	9.6	5.3	1330.7	
Base-year	1122.3	24.7	40.2	20.2	12.6	16.9	1236.9	
			Ку	oto target	with No Si	nks Credits	1162.7	_
	Marrakesh	Accord Ta	raet with F	ull Utilizati	on of Allov	wable Sinks	1210.4	

Table 1. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and The Kyoto Protocol Target for Japan (MtCO₂e).

Source: The Ministry of Environment of Japan (2002), UNFCCC (2001).

Measures adopted under the 2002 Guideline encouraged Japanese companies and business associations to carry out voluntary efforts, but did not outline mandatory caps or actions by companies (Government of Japan, 2002). The Guideline did, however, identify a set of reduction goals for different categories of emissions (**Table 2**). The goal for CO_2 emissions from energy use was 2% below 1990 levels. Methane, nitrous oxide, and CO₂ emissions from non-energy use were to be reduced by 0.5% from base-year levels, while emissions of HFC, PFC, and SF_6 could increase by 2% above base-year levels. Use of the Kyoto mechanisms allowing for international flexibility, including the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) and Joint Implementation (JI) projects, was seen as meeting the balance of reductions needed to get to 6% below base-year levels. The Guideline document does not mention international emission trading specifically, however, it is generally considered to be one of the "Kyoto flexibility mechanisms." The extent to which international emission trading could be used by Japan to meet its target would depend partly on how the Kyoto Protocol is implemented by other Parties. Table 2 also presents an assessment of the government's estimates of emissions in a business-as-usual (BAU) scenario made by MOE (2004a). It shows that energy-related CO₂ emissions are expected to increase in 2010 by 7.1% from the base-year level. Carbon dioxide from the non-energy use, methane, and nitrous oxide emissions are expected to meet the target established by the government. The estimate for forest management is insufficient to create credits up to the Marrakesh-agreed limit for sinks. Thus, Japan is expected to miss its Kyoto target without further effort to reduce emissions. The projected failure to meet the target with the voluntary measures identified in the Guideline document led to the MOE's proposed carbon tax, and METI's counter proposal to rely more on international emissions trading.

In addition to the interim reports from the Ministry of Environment (MOE) and the Ministry of Economy, Trade, and Industry (METI) already mentioned, the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, and Fisheries (MAFF), the Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, and Transport (MLIT), the Ministry of Internal Affair and Communications (MIC), and the Cabinet Office are required to report on progress toward meeting the Kyoto target. The MAFF (2004) also favored a carbon tax, proposing that the tax revenue should be partially used for forest management activities. The MLIT (2004) report does not refer to any mandatory methods. So far, MIC and the Cabinet have not made public their reports.

Catagony	Government Target	2010 BAU Forecast
Category	. a. get	2010 2010 1 0100020
CO ₂ emissions from energy use including reductions by innovative technologies and change of lifestyle	- 2%	+7.1%
CO ₂ emissions from non-energy use, methane, and nitrous oxide emissions	- 0.5%	- 0.9 ~ - 0.4%
Emissions of HFCs, PFCs, and SF6	+ 2%	Close examination underway
The use of Sinks	- 3.9%	- 3.1%
The use of the Kyoto Mechanism	- 1.6%	
Total	- 6.0%	

Table 2. Required Reduction of Emissions relative to 1990 level and 2010 forecast.

Source: Government of Japan (2002), MOE (2004a).

In contrast to the government reports, Nippon Keidanren the largest trade association in Japan with 1623 members from energy-intensive sectors and automotive associations, insists that voluntary efforts are sufficient. The association points to the fact that its members' emissions are below 1990 level despite the shut-down of some nuclear plants and the need to increase the use of fossil electric capacity to make up for the lost nuclear generation. The organization strongly opposes measures such as environmental taxes or domestic emission trading and stresses the fact that Japan has already achieved a lower carbon intensity of GDP (gross domestic product) than other countries. Their claim is based on international comparisons of electric generation efficiency, energy consumption intensity in iron and steel, and CO₂ intensity of chemical production (Nippon Keidanren, 2004a, 2004b).

As previously noted, the MOE conclusion about the carbon tax required to meet the Kyoto target was based on the analysis using the AIM model. As already noted, AIM-EndUse is a bottom-up technology model. It can simulate the emissions impact of different technology choices. AIM-Material is a multi-sectoral, economy-wide model of Japan. AIM-TopDown is a global CGE model. These components were variously used in the MOE study. Four scenarios were considered: *Constant Technology* that keeps current energy technologies and their efficiency constant, *Market Selection* that adjusts the selection of energy technologies based on changing prices and costs of technologies, *Carbon Tax Only* that considers a tax on fossil fuels at the rate of 30,000 yen/tC (or approximately 300 \$/tC), and *Tax and Subsidy* that combines a carbon tax of 3,400 yen/tC (or approximately 34 \$/tC) with the tax revenue distributed as a subsidy for the purchase of more energy-efficient technologies. The study reports emissions for the economy disaggregated to five sectors: Industry, Transport, Energy Transformation, Services, and Households. Emissions from electricity production are allocated to these five sectors based on their electricity use.

The study found the *Tax and Subsidy* scenario (**Table 3**) to result in the lowest level of emissions in 2010. It was sufficient to meet the Kyoto emission target. The *Tax and Subsidy* policy reduced CO₂ emissions in 2010 to 14% below the *Constant Technology* scenario. Notably,

			2010			
Sector	1990	2000	Constant Technology	Market Selection	Carbon Tax Only	Carbon Tax & Subsidy
Industry	490	495	470	452	432	427
Household	138	166	193	172	147	136
Office	124	152	162	148	134	127
Transport	212	256	271	263	250	247
Energy transform	77	86	88	86	81	80
Energy-Related CO ₂ Total	1042	1155	1185	1121	1044	1017
Non-energy-related CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O	143	141	137	137	137	137
HFCs, PFCs, SF_6	48	36	73	73	73	73
GHG Total	1233	1332	1395	1330	1254	1226
Forest sink			- 35.6	- 35.6	- 35.6	- 48.0
Total	1233		1360	1295	1218	1178

Table 3. Greenhouse gas emissions in AIM-EndUse Model (Mt-CO₂e).

Source: MOE (2003).

the Tax and Subsidy scenario, with a tax of just 3,400 yen/tC was projected to result in a greater emissions reduction than *Carbon Tax Only* scenario with a tax rate of 30,000 yen/tC, as shown in Table 3 and **Figure 1**. The subsidy portion of this policy was thus estimated to be very effective in reducing emissions. The Market Selection scenario results in GHG emissions in 2010 at the level of 2002 emissions, about 7.5% above 1990 emissions. This closely coincides with the recent MOE (2004a) projection for a business-as-usual scenario (Table 2).

The MOE estimates the Tax and Subsidy policy will result in total annual subsidy of 952 billion yen, to be distributed as in **Table 4**. Most of the subsidy is directed to encourage investment into higher-efficiency facilities. The subsidy to the forest sector is directed toward offsetting the labor costs of forest management. AIM-Material was used to estimate the GDP change due to these policies. Compared to the *Constant Technology* scenario the GDP loss was estimated to be 0.16% in the Carbon Tax Only scenario and 0.061% in the Tax and Subsidy scenario.

The structure of the AIM-TopDown submodel did not allow a direct implementation of the scenarios mentioned above. Emissions were constrained with a domestic cap to meet the Kyoto target. The estimated carbon price was \$350/tC with a GDP loss of 0.45% compared to the business-as-usual scenario. With international emission trading the GDP loss was estimated to be 0.2%. The MOE (2003) did not report the carbon price in the international emission trading scenario.¹



■ GHG (1990-2002)

Constant Technology Market Selection ⊠Carbon Tax & Subsidy Kyoto (inc. Marrakech)

Figure 1. Historical and Future GHG Emissions (Excluding Forest Sinks) as Forecasted by the AIM-EndUse Model, with Kyoto and Marrakesh Targets. (Sources: MOE, 2002; MOE, 2003.)

¹ A final MOE report of November 2004 revised the proposed carbon tax rate down to 2400 yen/TC from 3400 rate in the draft (MOE, 2004a). The final report estimates a GDP impact of -0.01% and carbon dioxide emissions reduction of 52 million tons of CO₂ from reference levels. Based on the reference, and estimated baseline sink uptake, this would leave Japan needing another 52 million tons of reductions according to the report. It stresses the importance of additional voluntary measures and environmental education of public as means of achieving further reductions. The exact distribution of subsidy is not provided, therefore, we have not modeled this change in the MOE proposal yet.

Sector	Subsidized Measures and Devices	Additional investment (billion Yen)
Industry	Boiler conversion control, High performance motor, High performance industrial furnace, etc.	101.3
Household	High efficiency air conditioner, High efficiency gas stove, Solar water heater, High efficiency gas cooking device, etc.	353.9
Office	High efficiency electric refrigerator, High efficiency air conditioner, High efficiency gas absorption heat pump, etc.	194.5
Transportation	High efficiency gasoline private car, High efficiency diesel car, Hybrid commercial car, High efficiency diesel bus, etc.	106.6
Forest	Plantation, Weeding, Tree thinning, Multilayered thinning, Improvement of natural forest, etc.	195.7
Total		952.0

Table 4. Distribution of Subsidy in AIM-EndUse Model.

Source: MOE (2003).

3. TRENDS IN JAPAN'S ENERGY AND CARBON INTENSITY

Figure 2 presents trends in carbon intensity for Japan, the USA, Canada, and selected European countries from 1980 to 2000 calculated from data of the Institute of Energy Economics, Japan (2004) which is in turn based on World Bank and IEA data. For these comparisons, GDP in Purchasing Power Parity (PPP) terms as computed by the World Bank was used. Carbon intensities for all countries shown in this figure tend to decline over this period, however, Japan's intensity shows little if any improvement in the 1990s. As a result of this slower improvement, France and Italy overtake Japan. Considerable caution is needed in making comparisons of the absolute intensity levels in such aggregate comparisons. A lower aggregate carbon intensity for a country does not necessarily translate to greater efficiency in individual processes, and thus, for example, this evidence on aggregate intensity does not necessarily contradict the data on energy efficiency of particular processes in material terms that are the basis of the Nippon Keidanren (2004a, 2004b) claim.

One critical element in aggregate comparisons is the choice of a basis for making international comparisons of output in common currency units. Purchasing Power Parity (PPP) is widely recognized as an improvement over market exchange rates as a basis for converting currency to a common base but it is at best an approximation of any ideal comparison. As an example of the importance of purchasing power conversion, comparing countries as in Figure 2 using market exchange rates would show Japan to have a considerably lower energy and emissions intensity than all other countries. With the PPP conversion Japan's intensity is similar to France and Italy.

There are also broad structural differences among countries. For example, relative to Japan, France relies more heavily on nuclear electricity, while Italy imports electricity from other countries and thus any emissions related to this electricity production does not show up in Italy's carbon account. The mix of fossil fuels, industrial structure, land area, climate, and availability of non-fossil resources such as hydro capacity can also have a large effect on international comparisons of both energy and carbon intensity.



Figure 2. Carbon Intensity in Selected Developed Countries. (Source: Institute of Energy Economics, Japan, 2004.)

Figure 3 focuses on Japan, showing real GDP (1995 prices) and CO_2 emissions from 1990 to 2002. During this period CO₂ emissions followed the pattern of economic activities, declining during the economic recessions of 1993, 1998, and 2001. Figure 4 shows annual carbon and energy intensity in Japan, and to examine the apparent slowdown in Japan's improvement that was observed in Figure 2 we extend the time series back to 1970. We then use ordinary least squares (OLS) to fit an exponential time trend for each decade. The estimated coefficient on the year (Y) is then an estimate of the average annual rate of change in energy intensity (EI) and carbon intensity (CI). These calculations show that energy intensity of GDP declined by an estimated 1.9% annually in the 1970s. This was a period with rapidly rising energy prices brought about by the first oil crisis of the early 1970s. Rising prices and concerns about fuel embargos produced strong incentives for energy efficiency and structural change. At the same time, Japan's economy grew at 4% annually. In the 1980s the average annual improvement in energy intensity fell to about 1.6% while the economy continued to grow by 4% per year. The second oil shock occurred late in the 1970s and brought about another round of rising energy prices that likely affected energy use at least into the early 1980s. By the middle of the decade world oil prices had fallen considerably from their peak. While energy intensity improvement slowed somewhat in the 1980s, carbon intensity improved more rapidly in the 1980s (2.5%/yr.) than in the 1970s (2.2%/yr.). The direct reason for this divergence of energy and carbon intensity was the increased share of nuclear and natural gas in primary energy supply.



Figure 3. Japan's real GDP and CO₂ Emissions. (Data Source: Institute of Energy Economics, Japan 2004; MOE, 2002.)





Too much should not be made of the slight differences between the performance in the 1970s and 1980s. For one thing, the estimated time trends between decades are not significantly different from one another at a 95% confidence level. Beyond that, using a decade as the breakpoint is arbitrary. The overall conclusion is that at least in terms of the aggregate performance of energy and carbon intensity the 1970s and 1980s were, for Japan, very similar.

The 1990s offer a strong contrast from the 1970s and 1980s. Both energy and carbon intensity are nearly flat and not significantly different than zero. The point estimate of the average energy intensity actually increased very slightly, while the carbon intensity average decrease was less than 0.5% per year. A number of things changed in Japan in the 1990s. For one, it was a period of slow GDP growth with a rate of 1.4% per year. Unlike the 1970s and 1980s, international energy prices were relatively stable and low. The slight improvement in carbon intensity can again be traced to greater use of nuclear and natural gas, as their share of primary energy supply rose from 9 to 12% and 10 to 14%, respectively (Institute of Energy Economics, Japan, 2004). The actual data plotted in Figure 4 suggest the slowdown of both carbon and energy intensity may have had its roots as early as 1986. Removing the transition years in the late 1980s from the earlier decade estimates would likely thus show an even greater difference between the rapid improvements through about 1985 and the negligible improvement since 1990.

What can Japan expect in terms of energy and carbon intensity improvement in a reference (*i.e.*, no policy) case through the Kyoto commitment period? Will it return to the rapid improvements of the 1970s and early 1980s, or can it expect performance more like the 1990s? The answer depends in large part on what is behind the change and there are several possible explanations. More detailed statistical analysis that attempt to sort out the effect of energy prices and other factors might help explain the reason for this change, but unfortunately many of the changes occurred together and this high correlation will make it difficult to separate the effect of each factor. Here we identify the leading hypotheses that could explain this change in performance in the Japanese economy and their very different implications for projections of Japan's future and the difficulty of meeting the Kyoto target.

If the differences are mainly due to energy prices, then possibly the recently high oil and gas prices may spur improving energy and carbon efficiency. However, the fuel mix change that led to more rapid increases in carbon than energy intensity is unlikely to continue. Gas could penetrate further but unlike the previous periods when oil prices rise led the way and encouraged a switch to gas, in recent years gas prices have risen rapidly for independent reasons and so there may be less economic incentive to switch from oil to gas even with rising oil prices. As in most other industrial countries, nuclear expansion in Japan has slowed dramatically with few new plants expected to come on line in the near term. Thus, even if rising energy prices spur improvements in energy intensity, these may not be accompanied by an additional improvement in carbon intensity as occurred in the 1980s. It is worth examining again the cross country comparison of carbon intensity in Figure 2 to note that Japan's slowdown in the 1990s is more pronounced than most other countries. This suggests that energy prices are not the sole explanation for it because energy price changes reflect to a large degree changes in international markets that were felt in all countries.

Another hypothesis is that rapid economic growth stimulates rapid energy efficiency improvement. The argument here is that with rapid growth comes a rapidly expanding capital stock, and perhaps rapid replacement of old capital. If the newer equipment and technology is more energy efficient than the old then improvement in energy efficiency will result. It is also likely that structural change is hastened by rapid economic growth, and if structural change is toward sectors that are less energy and emissions intensive—the service sectors are often offered as a candidate—then the aggregate energy intensity improvement will be faster when economic growth is faster. If these processes are at work then the low economic growth projections for Japan over the next decade would be inconsistent with rapid improvement in energy and carbon intensity. On the other hand, rising energy prices may also stimulate structural shifts and replacement of capital stock, and so there is likely some interaction between growth and price change as a source of intensity change.

Another possibility is that Japan has exhausted many of the immediate sources of improvement in energy intensity while other industrial countries have not yet done so. The case to be made here is that Japan has been at the leading edge of intensity change among the industrial countries. With highly efficient processes already widely adopted in Japan, the next set of energy efficient processes may not be yet proven or possess as clear an economic advantage as did the technologies contributing to the rapid decline in intensity in the 1970s and early 1980s. Another general trend among industrial countries in recent decades was a significant reduction in production of basic materials that are often very energy intensive, such as smelting of ores and energy intensive chemical production. In some cases this reduction in developed countries led to imports of these materials from developing countries. In other cases it reflected increased recycling of scrap or a structural change toward less demand for these materials. This source of structural change may have reached a limit in Japan. If this is a major reason for a slowdown in intensity improvement then it is difficult to project whether little or no improvement is only a pause until new sources of improvement are identified, or the 1990s experience is a new pattern that will persist for decades. In fact, one can not rule out the possibility that future development of the economy in Japan may lead instead to energy intensity increases, with the 1990s being the turning point in the trend. These patterns could have important implications for Japan, and the world. What had seemed like a reliable trend of improving energy intensity may be ending, and as other industrial countries catch up to Japan they may face a similar situation.

We return to these trends in later sections when we consider our modeling results and compare them to the MOE study results.

4. THE EMISSIONS PREDICTION AND POLICY ANALYSIS (EPPA) MODEL

To analyze the Climate Change Tax policy we apply the MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) model (Babiker *et al.*, 2001, Paltsev, *et al.* 2003). EPPA is a recursivedynamic multi-regional general equilibrium model of the world economy. The version of EPPA used here (EPPA4) has been updated in a number of ways from the model described in Babiker *et al.* (2001). Most of the updates are presented in Paltsev *et al.* (2003). EPPA is built on the GTAP data set, which accommodates a consistent representation of energy markets in physical units as well as detailed accounts of regional production and bilateral trade flows (Hertel, 1997). Besides the GTAP data set, EPPA uses additional data for greenhouse gas (CO₂, CH₄, N₂O, HFCs, PFCs, and SF₆) and urban gas emissions. For use in EPPA the GTAP dataset is aggregated into the 16 regions and 10 sectors shown in **Table 5**. The base-year of the EPPA model is 1997. From 2000 onward it is solved recursively at 5-year intervals. Because of the

Country or Region		Sectors	
Annex B		Non-Energy	
United States	USA	Agriculture	AGRI
Canada	CAN	Services	SERV
Japan	JPN	Energy-Intensive Products	EINT
European Union+ ^a	EUR	Other Industries Products	OTHR
Australia/New Zealand	ANZ	Transportation	TRAN
Former Soviet Union ^b	FSU	Energy	
Eastern Europe ^c	EET	Coal	COAL
		Crude Oil	OIL
Non-Annex B		Refined Oil	REFOIL
India	IND	Natural Gas	GAS
China	CHN	Electric: Fossil	ELEC
Indonesia	IDZ	Electric: Hydro	HYDR
Higher Income East Asia ^d	ASI	Electric: Nuclear	NUCL
Mexico	MEX	Electric: Solar and Wind	SOLW
Central and South America	LAM	Electric: Biomass	BIOM
Middle East	MES	Electric: Natural Gas Combined Cycle	NGCC
Africa	AFR	Electric: NGCC with Sequestration	NGCCS
Rest of World	ROW	Electric: Integrated Gasification with	IGCCC
		Combined Cycle and Sequestration	
		Oil from Shale	SYNO
		Synthetic Gas	SYNG
		Household	
		Own-Supplied Transport	OTS
		Purchased Transport Supply	PTS

Table 5. Countries, Regions, and Sectors in the EPPA Model.

^a The European Union (EU-15) plus countries of the European Free Trade Area (Norway, Switzerland, Iceland).

^b Russia and Ukraine, Latvia, Lithuania and Estonia (which are included in Annex B) and Azerbaijan, Armenia, Belarus, Georgia, Kyrgyzstan, Kazakhstan, Moldova, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan (which are not). The total carbon-equivalent emissions of these excluded regions were about 20% of those of the FSU in 1995. At COP-7 Kazakhstan, which makes up 5-10% of the FSU total, joined Annex I and indicated its intention to assume an Annex B target.

^c Hungary, Poland, Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia.

^d South Korea, Malaysia, Phillipines, Singapore, Taiwan, Thailand.

^e All countries not included elsewhere: Turkey, and mostly Asian countries.

focus on climate policy, the model further disaggregates the GTAP data for energy supply technologies and includes a number of energy supply technologies that were not in widespread use in 1997 but could take market share in the future under changed energy price or climate policy conditions.

Bottom-up engineering detail is incorporated in EPPA in the representation of these alternative energy supply technologies. The synthetic coal gas industry produces a perfect substitute for natural gas. The oil shale industry produces a perfect substitute for refined oil. These potential new sources do not enter over the time periods analyzed here. All electricity generation technologies produce perfectly substitutable electricity except for the Solar & Wind technology, which is modeled as producing an imperfect substitute, reflecting its intermittent output. Biomass use is included explicitly in electric generation.

The EPPA model production and consumption sectors are represented by nested Constant Elasticity of Substitution (CES) production functions (or the Cobb-Douglas and Leontief special cases of the CES). The model is written in GAMS-MPSGE. It has been used in a wide variety of policy applications (*e.g.*, Jacoby *et al.*, 1997; Jacoby and Sue Wing, 1999; Reilly *et al.*, 1999; Bernard *et al.*, 2003; Paltsev *et al.*, 2003; Babiker, Reilly and Metcalf, 2003).

In order to model the Japanese Climate Change Tax policy in the EPPA model, we introduce the tax of 3400 yen/tC on usage of fossil fuel starting from 2005 and distribute the subsidy of 952 billion yen. Because EPPA units are 1997 U.S. dollars, we convert the numbers using the 1997 exchange rate (\$1 = 121 yen), which results in a carbon tax of \$28/tC and the total subsidy of \$7.87 billion.

The subsidy is distributed among six sectors of the economy as reported in **Table 6**. The sectoral structure of the AIM and the EPPA models is different. Therefore, we have made some adjustments in the subsidy distribution (**Table 7**). Based on covered facilities we assign the AIM industry sector to the EPPA energy-intensive industry sector. We also divide subsidies to the AIM transport sector into the EPPA commercial and household transportation sectors based on CO_2 emission shares from the sectors in 1997. The subsidy is modeled as a negative tax on non-energy inputs related to equipment purchases into these sectors that would be the source of more fuel-efficient technology. Fuel use is therefore reduced to the extent the subsidized cost of equipment allows substitution away from fuels and toward equipment.

Figure 5 shows where the subsidies were applied within the nesting structures of each sector. For three industrial sectors (EINT, SERV and TRAN), we adjust the capital input tax because the subsidy is for the equipment and facilities (top panel). For agriculture, we adjust the labor input tax because the subsidy in agriculture is for the activities such as planting, weeding and thinning (bottom panel). There is no explicit capital input into the household, and so for the HOUS and the HTRN sectors the subsidy is applied to the input of the OTHR sector (bottom panel). The OTHR sector produces energy efficient equipment such as high efficient air-conditioners or hybrid cars and these products are to be encouraged through the subsidy. To compare more

Targeted	Subsidy	
	(B\$/yr)	
HOUS	Household	2.911
EINT	Industry	0.865
SERV	Office	1.574
TRAN	Transportation	0.393
HTRN	Transportation	0.472
AGRI	Forest	1.652
	Tota	l 7.868

Table 6. Targeted Sectors and Subsidy in EPPA.

Table 7. Existing Tax, Proposed Subsidy, and Applied Net Rates.

	HOUS	EINT	SERV	TRAN	HTRN	AGRI
Existing tax rate	4.14%	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	4.14%	0.00%
Subsidy, as a rate	-0.30%	-0.70%	-0.28%	-0.75%	-0.30%	-5.23%
Applied net rate	3.84%	-0.70%	-0.28%	-0.75%	3.84%	-5.23%



Figure 5. Nesting Structure in EPPA, and Application of the Subsidy. Top panel: Nesting Structure of EINT, SERV, TRAN and AGRI Production Sectors in EPPA. Bottom panel: Structure of the Household Sector.

directly with the AIM-EndUse results with regard to the effectiveness of the subsidy we have established the tax subsidy rates so that the subsidy level will be approximately the \$7.87 billion dollars estimated in the MOE report regardless of the level of tax revenue estimated to be collected in the EPPA model. This was done by setting the subsidy rate equal to the subsidy amount to a sector divided by the total value of the input being subsidized in that sector in the EPPA BAU. Because the policy changes input-use somewhat, the actual subsidy level will differ slightly from that estimated in the MOE study. It turns out to be the case that emissions in policy scenarios based on EPPA are as high or higher than those estimated in the MOE report. The EPPA policy thus collects revenue from the carbon tax in excess of the subsidy. We return this excess revenue via a lump sum transfer to the representative consumer.

4.1. Economic Growth

The growth rate of GDP is one of the more important factors in projecting future energy and emissions as shown in the historical relationship in the previous section and as demonstrated in many modeling studies (Weyant and Hill, 1999). **Table 8** shows the variability in real GDP growth in Japan in 1990-2002. It varies from 3.6% in 1996 to a negative 1.2% in 2001. GDP grew at an annual average rate of 4.4% between 1970 and 1980 and at 4.0% between 1980 and 1990. The average for the 1990s was only 1.4%. The AIM model sets the growth rate at 0.9% between 2000 and 2010 and at 1.9% between 2010 and 2020 on the basis of Japanese government's economic forecast. We have adjusted Japan's GDP growth rate in the EPPA model to the AIM assumptions. The standard reference case of the EPPA is more optimistic about Japan's economic recovery and it uses the annual rate of 1.8% for economic growth between 2000 and 2010, and 2.8% during the following decade.

			EPPA Standard
	Historic	AIM	Reference
1991	2.2		
1992	1.1		
1993	– 1.0		
1994	2.3		
1995	2.4		
1996	3.6		
1997	0.6		
1998	– 1.0		
1999	0.9		
2000	3.0		
2001	- 1.2		
2002	1.2		
1970-1980	4.4		
1980-1990	4.0		
1990-2000	1.4		
2000-2010		0.9	1.8
2010-2020		1.9	2.8

Table 8. Real GDP growth in Japan (%).

Source: Institute of Energy Economics, Japan (2004).

4.2. CO₂ Emissions

Using the adjusted EPPA model, we simulate the reference case from 1997 to 2020 and compare the sectoral CO_2 emissions from the energy related sources in 2000 and 2010 with those from the AIM model. The results are presented in **Table 9**. The CO_2 emissions have been allocated to sectors following the convention of the AIM model, attributing emissions from electricity generation to end-use sectors on the basis of their electricity use. In Table 9 the corresponding EPPA sectors are listed below the AIM sectors.

Despite the difference in their structure, the AIM and EPPA models project a similar sectoral CO_2 emissions distribution. In 2000 carbon emissions from the industry, transportation, households, and services are close in the two models. However, there are some differences in the emissions from the energy sectors, although this may reflect that fact that we cannot make a sectoral aggregation from EPPA that is completely comparable to that of AIM.

For 2010, Table 9 presents the sectoral emissions from the EPPA model for two scenarios: the standard EPPA reference case and the case where we have adjusted the economic growth in Japan to match the AIM economic projections. As the table shows, the models differ in their projections for the industry sector. Even with the same assumptions about the economic growth, the AIM model forecasts a reduction in emissions from the industry sector of 5%, while in the EPPA model emissions from the industry increase by 3%. Total CO_2 emissions in 2010 in the EPPA model are 2.7% higher than in the AIM model. As a result, the required reduction in CO_2 emissions to reach the Kyoto target is 14% in the AIM model and 16% in EPPA relative to the BAU emissions.

	EPPA							AIM		
		Ave. GD	Ave. GDP growth of 1.8%/yr Ave. GDP growth of 0.9%/yr			(Ave. GDP growth of 0.9%/yr)				
	2000	2010	Absolute Change (%)	2010	Absolute Change (%)	2000	2010	Absolute Change (%)		
Industry AGRI,EINT,OTHR	524	588	+64 (+12.2)	540	+16 (+3.1)	495	470	– 25 (– 5.1)		
Household HOUS	151	176	+25 (+16.6)	159	+8 (+5.3)	166	193	+27 (+16.3)		
Service SERV	162	173	+11 (+6.8)	163	+1 (+0.6)	152	162	+10 (+6.6)		
Transportation TRAN,HTRN	301	340	+39 (+13.0)	310	+9 (+3.0)	256	271	+15 (+5.9)		
Energy Transformation COAL,OIL,ROIL,GAS	38	47	+9 (+23.7)	43	+5 (13.2)	86	88	+2 (+2.3)		
TOTAL	1176	1324	+148 (+12.6)	1217	+41 (+3.5)	1155	1185	+30 (+2.6)		

4.3. Energy Efficiency Improvement

The conventional approach for taking technological change into account as it affects energy efficiency in long-term energy projections is to use an exogenous factor conventionally referred to as the Autonomous Energy Efficiency Improvement (AEEI). The AEEI reduces the energy

required in each sector to produce the same amount of output, assuming other things such as energy prices are unchanged. In an actual forward simulation of the model, other things such as energy prices change endogenously, and these changes also affect energy efficiency. Actual energy efficiency of production of each sector in forward simulations is thus a combination of the exogenous AEEI factor, and endogenous effects through changes in fuel and other prices. The AEEI can thus be seen as a reduced-form parameterization of the evolution of non-price induced changes in energy demand. Often it is assumed that AEEI represents technical change, but it should be seen as broadly representing other changes such as in the structure of production within the aggregate sectors (Babiker *et al.*, 2001).

The EPPA assumptions for AEEI among the Annex B countries, implies an energy efficiency improvement in the electric sector of 0.40% to 0.45% per year while non-electric sectors increase in energy efficiency by 1.2% to 1.3% per year. In Japan, the energy efficiency of the electric sector is modeled as improving at a rate of 0.40% per year while non-electric sectors increase in energy efficiency by 1.0% per year. This rate slows gradually in Japan over the period 2000 to 2015 because Japanese energy efficiency is already quite high, and so the options for further improvement may be more limited than in other regions.

4.4. Energy Sector

Because of the domestic availability of resources and other factors, there is a large difference among developed countries in terms of the fuels used to produce electricity, and also in the efficiency of conversion and this affects CO_2 emissions among countries. This, in turn, affects the options available to reduce emissions. **Table 10** presents the shares of different technologies for electricity production in Japan, Europe, USA, and Canada as they are reported by IEA (1997) and implemented in the EPPA model. In the U.S., for example, more than one-half of the electricity production is from coal. Fuel-switching from coal to gas could in principle reduce emissions from the production of that electricity by one-half or more given the fact that CO_2 per exajoule of gas combusted is lower than that of coal. Gas turbine technology is also considerably more efficient than the existing baseload coal generation capacity in the U.S., and this would confer further reduction benefits to a switch to gas in the United States. In contrast, Japan has a relatively low share of the coal-based electricity, limiting the degree to which fuel shifting to gas or oil could reduce emissions, and its coal capacity is more efficient on average than that in the U.S.

	Japan	Europe	USA	Canada
COAL	0.19	0.28	0.54	0.17
ROIL	0.18	0.08	0.03	0.02
GAS	0.20	0.14	0.14	0.04
NUCLEAR	0.31	0.36	0.18	0.14
HYDRO	0.09	0.12	0.09	0.61
Other	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.01
Total (10 ¹² kWh)	1.027	2.407	3.670	0.573

Table 10. Electricity Shares and Total Electricity Production in 1997.

Source: IEA (1997)

The potential role of nuclear power in most countries is highly dependent on licensing and siting issues. To take these political factors into account, nuclear power capacity expansion in EPPA is controlled via the growth of a fixed factor that represents fuel supply. The fixed factor growth is an exogenous assumption to reflect limits on expansion because of siting and licensing issues. Generation of nuclear electricity from the installed capacity can respond to price via the ability to substitute capital and labor for the fixed factor—given the structure of EPPA this can be thought of as similar to increasing the capacity utilization factor. In Japan, the nuclear fixed factor is exogenously set to increase at 0.5% per year, thus limiting capacity expansion to this rate. This is somewhat slower than the Japanese government forecast for a 2.5% growth in nuclear capacity but more rapid than in the U.S., for example, where the growth is set to zero.

The existing energy tax system is also important because climate policy can interact with preexisting taxes to affect the country's economic cost of climate policy (Paltsev *et al.*, 2004). **Table 11** presents the tax rates on energy use for private consumption as derived from the GTAP database and used in the EPPA model. This tax is mostly related to the tax of motor vehicle fuels. The highest tax rates are in Europe, Japan is next highest, Canada has much lower taxes, and the USA energy taxes are essentially zero. In construction of these tax rates, the motor fuel excise tax in the U.S., since it is used to fund highway construction, is treated as a user charge for the highway service rather than as a tax. The tax ranking is the same for industrial use of energy. The Climate Change Tax as proposed is an additional tax on fuels beyond the existing fuel taxes in Japan. It is therefore likely to increase the economic loss from these taxes beyond the direct cost of the Climate Change Tax as shown in Paltsev *et al.* (2004).

	Japan	Europe	USA	Canada
COAL	0.00	0.68	0.00	0.00
ROIL	2.66	4.70	0.00	1.30
GAS	0.28	0.81	0.00	0.09
ELEC	0.04	0.42	0.00	0.09

Table 11. Tax Rates on Energy Products for a Private Use.

5. SIMULATION RESULTS

5.1 Comparison Using EPPA Reference Parameters

In order to estimate the effects of the proposed carbon tax in the EPPA model we consider the following scenarios. The business-as-usual (BAU) scenario uses the usual EPPA values and parameters with the adjusted economic growth rate as described above. The Carbon Tax (CT) scenario introduces a carbon tax of \$28/tC from 2005 without distributing the subsidy to the sectors. In this case the revenue from the tax is returned to the representative agent in a lump-sum fashion. The Carbon Tax and Subsidy (CTS) scenario considers both the carbon tax and the subsidy to six targeted sectors as described in Section 4. The results of the simulations are presented in **Table 12**. It shows that GDP and the welfare losses are less than 1.0%.² Carbon emissions are reduced in 2010 by 5.6% in comparison to the BAU scenario, leaving emissions in

² The welfare loss, computed by EPPA but not by the AIM model, can be thought of as the loss in consumption.

	EP	PA	A	IM			
	СТ	СТЅ	СТ	СТЅ			
	% Chan	ge in Emi	ssions				
2005	- 5.2	- 5.2					
2010	- 5.6	- 5.7	- 11.9	- 14.2			
2015	- 5.8	- 5.9					
2020	- 6.0	- 6.1					
	% Change in GDP						
2005	- 0.17	- 0.12					
2010	- 0.18	- 0.14	- 0.16	- 0.06			
2015	- 0.19	- 0.15					
2020	- 0.19	- 0.15					
% Change in Welfare							
2005	- 0.07	- 0.07					
2010	- 0.09	- 0.10					
2015	- 0.10	- 0.11					
2020	- 0.11	- 0.12					

Table 12. Change in Energy-related CO₂ Emissions, GDP, and Welfare (%) relative to BAU.

2010 12% above the Kyoto target. The CTS scenario shows very little additional emissions reduction compared with the CT case, less than rounding in 2005. A small effects should be expected given the low rate of subsidy (as reported in Table 7), and the fact that we apply the subsidy only on non-energy input. As implemented in our scenario, the subsidy is thus a fairly blunt incentive instrument, not very narrowly targeted to improving energy efficiency. These results differ in important ways from the AIM results. First, BAU emissions in EPPA are somewhat higher than in AIM, as shown in Table 9, requiring a bigger reduction to meet the Kyoto Target. Second, the Climate Change Tax is less effective in EPPA than in AIM at reducing emissions. Third, the subsidy has much less impact in EPPA than in the AIM results. Together these differences mean the EPPA results for the CTS case leave Japan far from meeting the Kyoto Target, whereas AIM found this policy to be sufficient to meet the target.

5.2 Sensitivity Tests of Results

Clearly the parameters determining the baseline energy intensity improvement and response to the subsidy are important assumptions in the EPPA model results, and these are uncertain. Moreover, our approach of subsidizing capital or labor could be criticized because it may not target energy-saving technology as effectively as is possible. We thus turn our attention to further examine energy intensity given that improving energy efficiency is a central objective of the Climate Change Tax policy proposed by the MOE. We first test the sensitivity of results to the AEEI in the BAU case (*i.e.*, without the Climate Change Tax). We then consider alternative AEEI assumptions in combination with the CTS scenario.

We study sensitivity to AEEI in the general economy, leaving the AEEI in the electric sector unchanged because the subsidy is to be paid to technologies in the energy use sectors, not to those in electric generation. We consider the following growth rates of AEEI beginning in 1997:

1.0 (default value; BAU case), 1.5, 2.0, 2.5 and 0 (zero)% in the BAU scenario. We then calculate the resulting changes in projected aggregate energy intensity. Recall that the rate of intensity change will be the combined effect of the AEEI and endogenous factors such as structural change and response to changing prices, as well as the unchanged rate of improvement in the electricity generation sector.

At the reference AEEI of 1.0% per year energy intensity declines by approximately 0.5% per year in the decade between 2000 and 2010, and intensity improvement increases to over one percent in the following decade (**Figure 6**). This is a considerably more rapid improvement than in the 1990s when energy intensity was virtually unchanged, but not nearly as rapid as the rate in the 1970s and 1980s. An assumption of a zero change in AEEI still results in a 0.3 to 0.4% annual decrease in Japan's energy intensity of GDP for the 2000-2010 period, faster than the rate of the 1990s. An AEEI of 2.0 and 2.5 results in an intensity improvement of 1.8 to 2.0% per year. This is at the high end or beyond the rate experienced in the 1970s and 1980s.



Figure 6. Energy Intensity Sensitivity to AEEI Assumptions

As shown in **Table 13**, these different assumptions about AEEI make large differences in the BAU emission projections. While the assumption of 1.0% growth in AEEI puts Japan in the BAU scenario 19.1% above the Kyoto requirement, the assumption of 2.5% growth in AEEI reduces the excess emissions to 2.8%. On the other hand, if intensity improvement remains very low (with AEEI at zero) Japan could find itself nearly 24% above the Kyoto target absent specific climate policies. Also note that higher energy efficiency is a form of improved productivity, meaning that products can be produced with less cost. Higher AEEI thus also increases economic growth. Note that Table 13 reports the GDP effect in terms of change from the reference in that year. A 2.0% increase in GDP in 2020 above the reference translates into less than a 0.1% increase in the *annual rate of growth* of GDP over a 20 year period.

1.5%	2%	2.5%	0		
ange in	GDP				
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00		
0.11	0.22	0.32	- 0.29		
0.24	0.47	0.68	- 0.41		
0.39	0.75	1.09	- 0.64		
0.56	1.08	1.55	- 1.15		
0.76	1.43	2.04	- 1.80		
ange in	Emission	5			
0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		
– 1.5	- 3.1	- 4.5	2.8		
- 3.2	- 6.2	- 9.2	3.2		
- 4.8	- 9.4	- 13.7	4.0		
- 6.5	- 12.5	- 18.0	7.5		
- 8.2	– 15.6	- 22.4	11.4		
% Emissions above the Kyoto target					
13.4	8.0	2.8	23.9		
	1.5% ange in 0.00 0.11 0.24 0.39 0.56 0.76 ange in 0.0 - 1.5 - 3.2 - 4.8 - 6.5 - 8.2 iissions 13.4	1.5% 2% ange in GDP 0.00 0.00 0.11 0.22 0.24 0.47 0.39 0.75 0.56 1.08 0.76 1.43 ange in Emissions 0.0 0.0 - 1.5 - 3.1 - 3.2 - 6.2 - 4.8 - 9.4 - 6.5 - 12.5 - 8.2 - 15.6 nissions above the 13.4 8.0	1.5% 2% 2.5% ange in GDP 0.00 0.00 0.11 0.22 0.32 0.24 0.47 0.68 0.39 0.75 1.09 0.56 1.08 1.55 0.76 1.43 2.04 ange in Emissions 0.0 0.0 0.0 - 1.5 - 3.1 - 4.5 - 3.2 - 6.2 - 9.2 - 4.8 - 9.4 - 13.7 - 6.5 - 12.5 - 18.0 - 8.2 - 15.6 - 22.4 above the Kyoto tar 13.4 8.0 2.8		

Table 13. Change in GDP, CO_2 emissions and excess of emissions over the Kyoto target (%) in the BAU scenario with different rates of AEEI relative to the BAU with 1% of AEEI.

We now turn to the potential further interaction between energy efficiency improvement and the Climate Change Tax. The difference in AIM and EPPA results can be interpreted in at least two ways. One interpretation is that the EPPA model may simply underestimate the likely future energy intensity improvement in the no-policy reference. With a higher or lower rate of energy intensity improvement in the BAU, the CTS case will come closer or further, respectively, from the Kyoto target. Another interpretation is that the subsidy plan and voluntary measures encouraged by the Japanese government may somehow stimulate energy efficiency improvement far more effectively than estimated endogenously within the EPPA model, perhaps by targeting the subsidy more effectively than we have through a subsidy of capital, labor, or other equipment purchase. In this second case the argument would be that these subsidies overcome barriers to adoption of what turns out to be economically preferable technologies.

To approximate this latter interpretation we assume different growth rates of AEEI starting after 2005, as if they were a response to introduction of the carbon tax and subsidy. The scenarios labeled CTS1.5, CTS2, and CTS2.5 in **Table 14** reflect a growth in AEEI of 1.5, 2.0, and 2.5% respectively. We compare the policy results against the BAU scenario with a growth rate of AEEI of 1.0%. The calculation shows that to meet the Kyoto target with the proposed carbon tax we need to assume that the subsidy would increase the exogenous energy efficiency growth to 2.5% per year (CTS2.5). This assumption implies an overall energy intensity improvement above 2.0% per year, which is more rapid than Japan experienced in the 1970s and 1980s when the economy was growing rapidly and energy prices created large incentives to reduce fuel use. Compared with the reference case, GDP also increases in the policy cases with higher AEEI. The exogenous improvement in the AEEI is a boost to economic activity that more than offsets the negative effect of the introduction of the carbon tax. Again, it is only possible for a policy of this type to increase GDP if the subsidy and education efforts serve to overcome barriers to adoption of technologies that turn out to be economically superior to those that otherwise would have been chosen.

Scenarios: CTS CTS1.5 CTS2 CTS2.5 Change in GDP 1997 0.00 0.00 0.00 2000 0.00 0.00 0.00 2005 -0.12 -0.12 -0.12 2010 -0.14 0.21 0.53 0.83 2015 -0.15 0.39 0.87 1.32 2020 -0.15 0.59 1.25 1.84 KHANGE IN Emission 1997 0.0 0.0 0.0 2000 -0.7 -9.8 -13.7 -5.2 2010 -5.7 -9.8 -13.7 -17.4 2015 -5.9 -11.6 -16.9 -21.9 2020 -6.1 -13.5 -20.2 -26.4 Emissione: Emissione: Emisione: Emissione: Emissione: Emissione: Emisione: E						
% Change in GDP19970.000.000.000.0020000.000.000.000.002005 -0.12 -0.12 -0.12 -0.12 2010 -0.14 0.210.530.832015 -0.15 0.390.871.322020 -0.15 0.591.251.84% Change in Emissions19970.00.00.020000.00.00.02005 -5.2 -5.2 -5.2 2010 -5.7 -9.8 -13.7 -17.4 2015 -5.9 -11.6 -16.9 -21.9 2020 -6.1 -13.5 -20.2 -26.4 % Emissions above the Kyoto target	Scenarios:	СТЅ	CTS1.5	CTS2	CTS2.5	
1997 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2000 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2005 -0.12 -0.12 -0.12 -0.12 2010 -0.14 0.21 0.53 0.83 2015 -0.15 0.39 0.87 1.32 2020 -0.15 0.59 1.25 1.84 % Change in Emissions 1997 0.0 0.0 0.0 2000 0.0 0.0 0.0 2005 -5.2 -5.2 -5.2 2010 -5.7 -9.8 -13.7 -17.4 2015 -5.9 -11.6 -16.9 -21.9 2020 -6.1 -13.5 -20.2 -26.4 Kemissions above the Kyoto target 2010 12.4 7.5 2.8 -1.5	%	Change	in GDP			
20000.000.000.000.002005 -0.12 -0.12 -0.12 -0.12 2010 -0.14 0.210.530.832015 -0.15 0.390.871.322020 -0.15 0.591.251.84 % Change in Emissions 19970.00.00.020000.00.00.02005 -5.2 -5.2 -5.2 2010 -5.7 -9.8 -13.7 -17.4 2015 -5.9 -11.6 -16.9 -21.9 2020 -6.1 -13.5 -20.2 -26.4 Kemissions above the Kyoto target 201012.4 7.5 2.8 -1.5	1997	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2000	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
2010 -0.14 0.21 0.53 0.83 2015 -0.15 0.39 0.87 1.32 2020 -0.15 0.59 1.25 1.84 % Change in Emissions 1997 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2000 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2005 -5.2 -5.2 -5.2 -5.2 2010 -5.7 -9.8 -13.7 -17.4 2015 -5.9 -11.6 -16.9 -21.9 2020 -6.1 -13.5 -20.2 -26.4 Kemissions above the Kyoto target 2010 12.4 7.5 2.8 -1.5	2005	- 0.12	- 0.12	- 0.12	- 0.12	
2015 -0.15 0.39 0.87 1.32 2020 -0.15 0.59 1.25 1.84 % Change in Emissions 1997 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2000 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2005 -5.2 -5.2 -5.2 -5.2 2010 -5.7 -9.8 -13.7 -17.4 2015 -5.9 -11.6 -16.9 -21.9 2020 -6.1 -13.5 -20.2 -26.4 Kemissions above the Kyoto target 2010 12.4 7.5 2.8 -1.5	2010	- 0.14	0.21	0.53	0.83	
2020 -0.15 0.59 1.25 1.84 % Change in Emissions 1997 0.0 0.0 0.0 2000 0.0 0.0 0.0 2005 -5.2 -5.2 -5.2 2010 -5.7 -9.8 -13.7 -17.4 2015 -5.9 -11.6 -16.9 -21.9 2020 -6.1 -13.5 -20.2 -26.4 % Emissions above the Kyoto target 2010 12.4 7.5 2.8 -1.5	2015	- 0.15	0.39	0.87	1.32	
*** Change in Emissions 1997 0.0 0.0 0.0 2000 0.0 0.0 0.0 2005 - 5.2 - 5.2 - 5.2 2010 - 5.7 - 9.8 - 13.7 - 17.4 2015 - 5.9 - 11.6 - 16.9 - 21.9 2020 - 6.1 - 13.5 - 20.2 - 26.4 ** Emissions above the Kyoto target 2010 12.4 7.5 2.8 - 1.5	2020	- 0.15	0.59	1.25	1.84	
1997 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2000 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2005 -5.2 -5.2 -5.2 2010 -5.7 -9.8 -13.7 -17.4 2015 -5.9 -11.6 -16.9 -21.9 2020 -6.1 -13.5 -20.2 -26.4 Kemissions above the Kyoto target 2010 12.4 7.5 2.8 -1.5	%	Change	in Emission	าร		
20000.00.00.00.02005 -5.2 -5.2 -5.2 -5.2 2010 -5.7 -9.8 -13.7 -17.4 2015 -5.9 -11.6 -16.9 -21.9 2020 -6.1 -13.5 -20.2 -26.4 Kemissions above the Kyoto target 2010 12.4 7.5 2.8 -1.5	1997	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	
2005 -5.2 -5.2 -5.2 -5.2 2010 -5.7 -9.8 -13.7 -17.4 2015 -5.9 -11.6 -16.9 -21.9 2020 -6.1 -13.5 -20.2 -26.4 Kemissions above the Kyoto target 2010 12.4 7.5 2.8 -1.5	2000	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2005	- 5.2	- 5.2	- 5.2	- 5.2	
2015 -5.9 -11.6 -16.9 -21.9 2020 -6.1 -13.5 -20.2 -26.4 % Emissions above the Kyoto target 2010 12.4 7.5 2.8 -1.5	2010	- 5.7	- 9.8	– 13.7	– 17.4	
2020 - 6.1 - 13.5 - 20.2 - 26.4 % Emissions above the Kyoto target 2010 12.4 7.5 2.8 - 1.5	2015	- 5.9	- 11.6	- 16.9	– 21.9	
% Emissions above the Kyoto target 2010 12.4 7.5 2.8 - 1.5	2020	- 6.1	– 13.5	- 20.2	- 26.4	
2010 12.4 7.5 2.8 - 1.5	% Emissions above the Kyoto target					
	2010	12.4	7.5	2.8	- 1.5	

Table 14. Change in GDP, CO_2 emissions and excess of emissions over the Kyoto target (%) in the CTS scenarios with different rates of additional AEEI relative to the BAU scenario.

Given that CTS2.5 achieves the Kyoto target and is thus similar to the AIM results, we examine sectoral reductions from BAU for that case and compare them to the AIM results (**Table 15**). Total carbon emissions are reduced by 17% from BAU in the EPPA model and by 14% in the AIM model. Sectoral emissions show differential reduction of 8-31% in the EPPA and of 9-29% in the AIM. Both models predict that the highest percent reductions come from the household and service sectors. In absolute terms, the biggest reduction comes from industry (83 Mt) in the EPPA model and from the household sector (57 Mt) in the AIM model.

	EPPA				AIM			
	E	BAU	CTS2.5		BAU			стѕ
	2000	2010 (a)	2010 (b)	(b)–(a) (%)	2000	2010 (c)	2010 (d)	(d)–(c) (%)
Industry AGRI,EINT,OTHR	524	540	457	– 83 (– 15%)	495	470	427	- 43 (- 9%)
Household HOUSE	151	159	115	- 44 (- 28%)	166	193	136	– 57 (– 29%)
Service SERV	162	163	112	– 51 (– 31%)	152	162	127	– 35 (– 22%)
Transport TRAN, HTRN	301	310	286	- 24 (- 8%)	256	271	247	– 24 (– 9%)
Energy Transformation COAL,OIL,ROIL,GAS	38	43	36	– 7 (– 16%)	86	88	80	- 8 (- 9%)
TOTAL	1176	1217	1006	– 211 (– 17%)	1155	1185	1017	– 168 (– 14%)

Table 15. Sectoral CO₂ emissions in EPPA and AIM (Mt-CO₂).

Note: Numbers in brackets represent percent of emissions reduction in a policy case relative to BAU in 2010.

Figure 7 compares sectoral emissions from the EPPA forecasts for 2010 in the BAU, CTS, and CTS2.5 scenarios using the sectoral aggregation in EPPA that does not allocate electricity emissions to end-use sectors. In the BAU, the total CO_2 emissions are 1217 Mt with the electric sector being the leading emitter, accounting for one-third of the total emissions. The energy intensive industry sector and the transportation sector follow with 20% and 13% shares of total emissions, respectively. An introduction of the carbon tax with subsidy causes the total emission to fall to 1148 Mt. The CTS2.5 case results in an additional 142 Mt reduction to 1006 Mt.



Figure 7. Sectoral CO₂ Emissions from EPPA in the BAU, CTS and CTS2.5 scenarios.

Notably more than half of the additional 142 Mt reduction comes from the electric sector where we have not adjusted the energy efficiency because the electric sector does not benefit directly from the proposed subsidy. Reduced emissions from the electric sector are due instead mainly to the fact that improved efficiency elsewhere in the economy leads to a reduction in the demand for electricity, and that reduction is disproportionately from fossil fuel generation (**Figure 8**). In the reference case, total electric generation gradually increases from 0.913 to 0.949×10^{12} kWh during the period, and the shares by generation type change little. In contrast, in the CTS2.5 scenario total generation is 13% lower than in the BAU, with fossil fuel generation falling by 20%.

We have focused on the CTS2.5 case because it meets the Kyoto target. However, serious questions can be raised about the likelihood of energy intensity improving at such a rapid rate. As we reviewed in Section 3, energy intensity improvement at the rate implied in this scenario



Figure 8. Electric Generation in EPPA in the BAU, CTS, and CTS2.5 scenarios.

would be faster than even that of the 1970s and 1980s, a period of rapid economic growth and major structural change in Japan, and of sharp increases in energy prices. While energy prices have risen in the last couple of years and the Climate Change Tax would further increase them, in real terms they remain below the peaks reached in the 1970s and so it is not clear that energy prices will provide the same incentive to improve energy efficiency as in the 1970s and early 1980s. In addition, the forecast BAU growth rate of GDP in these scenarios, set to match the government forecast as used in the AIM model (see Table 8), is even slower for 2000 to 2010 than the 1990s, and it only recovers to the 1990s rate after 2010. With this relatively slow rate of growth, it seems less likely that there will be a major transformation of the capital stock and restructuring of the economy as occurred in the 1970s and 1980s.

5.3 Likely Performance of Technology Subsidies

The EPPA model can be used to test likelihood that subsidy incentives in the Climate Change Tax plan can encourage energy efficiency improvements of the magnitude estimated in the AIM analysis. A large portion of the carbon saving in the EPPA estimate comes from reduced demand for electricity, and evidence of the effect of technology subsidies can be seen in the experience of demand-side management by electric utilities in the U.S. These measures became popular among utilities as a way of avoiding the need to construct new capacity, and self-reporting by the utilities seemed to suggest they were successful at reducing energy use through subsidizing purchase of high efficiency equipment and through other demand-side measures. However, a recent study by Loughran and Kulich (2004) seriously questions the effectiveness of these programs. They note that electric utilities in the U.S. spent \$14.7 billion between 1989 and 1999 on these programs, and based on their self-reported electricity savings they calculate the cost of these programs at \$0.029 per kWh of saved electricity. Other estimates in the literature they review find costs per kWh saved in a similar range. Loughran and Kulich (2004) challenge the self-reported savings by using econometric techniques to statistically estimate the electricity savings. They find much lower actual savings, and arrive at an estimated cost per kWh saved as high as \$0.223. Even among the subset of utilities that they found were most effective at demand-side management the cost per kWh was still \$0.064, more than twice the self-reported cost average for all utilities.

If we assume the demand-side management experience in the U.S. is relevant to Japan's subsidy plan, we can use these results to estimate an average cost per ton of carbon reduced. To do this, we use the average carbon emissions per kWh of reduced generation in the simulation results when we compare CTS and CTS 2.5. If the program is as successful as self-reported by the U.S. utilities and costs \$0.029 per kWh, the average cost per ton of carbon is \$155/tC.³ If cost is at the high end of the Loughran and Kulich estimate of \$0.223 kWh saved then the cost per ton of carbon is \$1193/tC. If the program can do as well as the sub-sample of utilities that Loughran and Kulich found to be most effective at demand-side management, then the cost is \$342/tC.⁴

These results suggest that, if U.S. historical experience is only approximately relevant to Japanese conditions, the proposed subsidy program will likely prove economically unattractive. Even at the most optimistic estimate of \$0.029 per kWh the average cost per ton of carbon saved is far higher than the marginal tax rate, which is only \$28 per ton. Thus it is questionable whether the subsidy will bring forth the large reductions estimated in the MOE (2003) report. If anything, our EPPA model results for the CTS case may be overly optimistic unless energy intensity improvement rebounds substantially from the poor performance of the 1990s.

6. INTERNATIONAL EMISSION TRADING

If the domestic Climate Change Tax is likely to be insufficient to reduce Japan's emissions to the Kyoto Protocol target, what role could international emissions trading play. The MOE report published in 2003 (MOE, 2003) recommends limiting the contribution of international emission trading to 1.6% of the 1990 emissions. The EPPA model can simulate the emission trading of all six greenhouse gases mentioned in the Kyoto Protocol, but here we consider only CO_2 trading for comparison with the AIM model results. The constraints for the Annex B Kyoto member countries are set to include the full amount of carbon sinks provided in the Marrakesh agreement (UNFCCC, 2001). The EPPA model can also simulate a country's domestic policy both in terms of carbon price constraint or a quantity constraint. Instead of assigning a certain carbon tax as before, here we assign the quantity constraints for the Annex B countries and analyze the

³ Our calculations of cost per ton assume a carbon intensity of electric generation of 0.686 kg-CO₂/kWh.

⁴ Note also that the Loughran and Kulich (2004) results are for an *average* cost, and the Climate Change Tax is a *marginal* cost. We do not have the information from Loughran and Kulich on marginal cost, which one would expect to be higher than the average.

changes in welfare, production, consumption, and the resulting carbon prices. We set a growth rate in AEEI in Japan at the original reference value of 1.0%. We introduce the carbon policy in 2010 and compare the BAU scenario with the scenarios where the Kyoto targets are imposed with or without international emission trading. Potential emission reduction credits from Clean Development Mechanism or Joint Implementation projects are not taken into account in these scenarios.

It has been widely recognized in previous studies that the potential for emissions trading to reduce cost is greatly affected by sale of "hot air" from the former Soviet Union. "Hot air" refers to the fact that the emission quotas for Russia and Ukraine appear to be in excess of their expected emissions for the Kyoto commitment period under BAU conditions. The generous allocation came about because 1990 was used as the baseline for Kyoto reductions. Due to the severe economic downturn in these countries immediately after 1990, emissions fell by nearly one-half and few if any analysts expect emissions to recover to 1990 levels by the Kyoto commitment period (Victor et al., 1998; Paltsev, 2000). The allocation of the "hot air" essentially relaxes the constraint on the Annex B parties if they are made available through the flexibility mechanisms in the agreement. It is not clear if Russia and Ukraine will be able to sell the full amount of their "hot air" or that it would be desirable for them to do so as they may have an interest in banking the allowances for future use or restricting sales to exercise market power (Bernard et al., 2003). There has also been resistance among some Parties, such as the European Union, to use this hot air because purchasing it does not result in any environmental benefit. One proposed solution is the Green Investment Scheme (GIS). In this scheme "hot air" would be exchanged with Annex B parties if they invested in "green" projects in the hot air countries. Green projects could be environmental management capacity-building or any project deemed environmentally friendly even if it had no particular direct effect on greenhouse gas emissions. This requirement would answer the concern of Annex B Parties that the hot air purchase had no environmental benefit (Moe et al., 2001; World Bank et al., 2004).

The various uncertainties in the availability of international emissions allowances and possible limits to trade, lead us to consider the following cases.

No Emission Trading – all Kyoto parties meet their constraints by domestic policies;

- *Full Emission Trading* all Kyoto parties participate in the international emission trading using the full amount of "hot air" from the former Soviet Union;
- *No Inclusion of FSU* same as above but the former Soviet Union is not included in the international emission trading;
- *BAU Capped* same as above but the former Soviet Union is capped at its BAU level to exclude "hot air," and therefore emissions permit sales are possible only to the extent abatement below the BAU occurs.

Tables 16 and **17** presents the results of these simulations. Under the *No Emissions Trading* case Japan reaches the Kyoto target at a domestic carbon price of 166/tC. In the *Full Emission Trading* case we estimate that Japan would buy 155 MtCO₂ of allowances (or about 75% of the required reduction) with an international carbon price of 24/tC to meet its Kyoto target. This amount of purchased allowances is well above the proposed MOE limit (MOE, 2003) of

Table 16. Carbon Price in 2010 (\$/tC).

	Japan joins emission trading	Japan does not participate in emission trading		
	Japan's and World Price	Japan's Price	World Price	
No Trade	-	166	-	
Full Trade	24	159	17	
No Inclusion of FSU	144	164	141	
BAU Capped	75	163	68	

Table 17. Change in Welfare (%) in Japan in 2010 relative to the BAU scenario.

	Japan joins emission trading	Japan does not participate in emission trading
No Trade	-	- 0.36
Full Trade	- 0.06	- 0.38
No Inclusion of FSU	- 0.32	– 0.37
BAU Capped	- 0.17	- 0.36

20 MtCO₂ which corresponds to 1.6% of 1990 emissions. In the case of *No Inclusion of FSU*, Japan buys 17 MtCO₂ permits at \$144/tC. In the *BAU Capped* case Japan purchases 87 MtCO₂ at \$75/tC. Japan's decision to participate or not in the international emission trading affects the carbon prices both in Japan and in the world markets. The world price is higher with the additional demand for allowances from Japan. The use of unrestricted or "full" emission trading reduces its welfare cost to one-sixth of that without trading, from 0.36% to 0.06%, but Japan can achieve substantial savings even under cases where, for example, the full amount of the Russian allowance is not available in international markets.

We also examined the change in the volume of export and imports of other goods under these climate policies. The largest changes in trade occurred, not surprisingly, in the energy intensive sector where added carbon costs would have the biggest effect on product cost because of the sector's high carbon intensity. **Table 18** shows the net trade flow for the sector in different scenarios. In comparison to the BAU scenario, net exports of the energy intensive sector decrease from \$10.3 billion to \$2.4 billion in the *No Trade* case. In the *Full Emission Trading* case energy intensive exports fall only to \$9.4 billion. We attribute this reduction in exports to decrease in competitiveness of Japanese energy-intensive products due to carbon-related increase in energy prices in Japan. Carbon abatement leads to a shift of energy-intensive production to non-abating countries. The resulting increase in carbon emissions in non-abating countries is called "carbon leakage" (Felder and Rutherford, 1993; Burniaux and Martins, 2000; Paltsev, 2001) and it is an unavoidable shortcoming of any agreement, such as the Kyoto Protocol, with only partial coverage of nations.

Table 18	3 . Japan's	Energy-	Intensive	Sector	Exports in	2010 (bi	llion\$).
----------	--------------------	---------	-----------	--------	------------	----------	-----------

BAU	10.3
No Trade	2.4
Full Trade	9.4
No Inclusion of FSU	2.9
BAU Capped	7.1

7. CONCLUSION

Our analysis of the Japanese Climate Change Tax policy shows that Japan can meet the Kyoto target with the proposed policy only if energy intensity improvement is assumed to be substantially higher than forecast by the EPPA model. In the 1990s Japan's energy intensity did not improve at all, and if the Climate Change Tax policy were to be successful, it would imply that the energy intensity improvement would need to exceed 2% per year from now through the Kyoto commitment period. This is even faster than the rate of increase achieved in the 1970s and 1980s. In many regards, however, the conditions for achieving a high rate of intensity improvement were much more favorable in the 1970s and 1980s than they are likely to be in Japan through the Kyoto commitment period. The feature of the Climate Change Tax that generates large carbon savings in the analysis of the Ministry of Environment report is the use of revenue to subsidize purchase of efficient equipment. Experience in the U.S. over the recent past with utility demand-side management, which is in many ways similar to the proposed subsidy, suggests these programs may be much less effective than needed for Japan to meet its Kyoto commitment.

This result led us to consider different regimes of domestic and international emission trading as a way to meet the Kyoto commitment. If full international emission trading is available, the carbon price, welfare loss, and impact on Japan's energy-intensive exports is greatly reduced compared to the case in which Japan makes all of its reductions domestically. The welfare loss in the trading case is far below cost without trade. Even without access to Russian "hot air," as represented by the *BAU Capped* case, Japan would benefit from greater participation in international trading than allowed by the proposed policy. This considerable costs saving depends, of course, on the willing participation of other Annex B Parties in these Kyoto flexibility mechanisms. The key Parties in this regard are Russia and the Ukraine who would be the major sellers of allowances.

8. REFERENCES

- AIM Project Team, (2003). Tentative Calculation of Climate Change Tax Rate and its Economic Impact (in Japanese) (http://www.env.go.jp/council/16pol-ear/y161-12/mat02.pdf).
- Babiker, M., J. Reilly, M. Mayer, R. Eckaus, I. Sue Wing, and R. Hyman, (2001). The MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) Model: Revisions, Sensitivities, and Comparison of Results. MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, Cambridge, MA, Report 71.
- Babiker, Mustafa H., Gilbert E. Metcalf and John Reilly, (2003). "Tax distortions and global climate policy." *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, 46, 269-287.
- Bernard, A., S. Paltsev, J. Reilly, M. Vielle, and L. Viguier, (2003). Russia's Role in the Kyoto Protocol. MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, Cambridge, MA, Report 98.
- Burniaux J-M., and J.O. Martins (2000). *Carbon Emission Leakages: A General Equilibrium View*. Organisation for Cooperation and Development (OECD), Economics Department, Working Paper No 242.
- Felder S., and T. Rutherford (1993). "Unilateral CO₂ reductions and carbon leakage: the consequences of international trade in basic materials." *J. of Environmental Economics and Management*, 25, 162-176.
- Government of Japan, (2002). Guideline for Measures to Prevent Global Warming (http://www.kantei.go.jp/foreign/policy/ondanka/020319summary_e.html).
- Hertel, T., (1997). *Global Trade Analysis: Modeling and Applications*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Institute of Energy Economics, Japan, (2004). EDMC Handbook of Energy and Economics in Japan.
- Jacoby, H., R. Eckaus, A.D. Ellermann, R. Prinn, D. Reiner, and Z. Yang, (1997). "CO₂ Emissions Limits: Economic Adjustments and the Distribution of Burdens." *The Energy Journal*, 18, 31-58.
- Jacoby, H. and I. Sue Wing, (1999). "Adjustment Time, Capital Malleability, and Policy Cost." *The Energy Journal*, Special Issue, The Costs of the Kyoto Protocol: A Multi-Model Evaluation, 73-92.
- Jacoby, H.D., J.M. Reilly, J.R. McFarland and S. Paltsev (2004). "Technology and Technical Change in the MIT EPPA Model." MIT Joint Program Report No. 111; *Energy Economics*, in review.
- Loughran D. and J. Kulich, (2004). "Demand-Side Management and Energy Efficiency in the United States." *The Energy Journal*, 25(1), 19-43.
- Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, and Fisheries, (2004). The measures for forest sink in the efforts to address the global warming (http://www.rinya.maff.go.jp/puresu/h16-11gatu/1129rinseisin.htm) (in Japanese).
- Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (METI), (2004). Interim Report toward Future Climate Change Policy (in Japanese) (http://www.meti.go.jp/feedback/downloadfiles/i40825dj.pdf).

- Ministry of Environment of Japan (MOE), (2002). The Greenhouse Gas Emissions in 2002 (http://www.env.go.jp/earth/ondanka/ghg/2002ghg.pdf).
- Ministry of Environment (MOE), (2003). Draft of Climate Change Tax Proposal for a national dialog REPORT (http://www.env.go.jp/en/topic/cc/040209.html).
- Ministry of Environment (MOE), (2004a). Assessment and Review of the Climate Change Policy Program Interim Report (http://www.env.go.jp/en/news/2004/0924/0924-a.pdf).

Ministry of Environment (MOE), (2004b). A Concrete Plan for the Environmental Tax Report of Discussions on International Climate Change Strategy (http://www.env.go.jp/policy/tax/041105/all.pdf) (in Japanese).

The Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, and Transport, (2004). The interim report of the Environmental Division of the Transportation Policy Committee (http://www.mlit.go.jp/singikai/infra/kankyou/goudou/040601.html) (in Japanese).

- Moe A., Tangen K. with Stern J., Grubb M., Berdin U., Sugiyama T. and Korppo A., (2001). A Green Investment Scheme, Climate Strategy (http://www.climatestrategies.org/gisbriefingpaper.pdf).
- Nippon Keidanren (2004a). Results of the Fiscal 2004 Follow-up to the Keidanren Voluntary Action Plan on the Environment (http://www.keidanren.or.jp/english/policy/2004/091/index.html).
- Nippon Keidanren (2004b). The Political and Economic Situation in Japan (http://www.keidanren.or.jp/english/speech/20041115.html).
- Paltsev S., (2000). "The Kyoto Protocol: "Hot Air" for Russia?" Discussion Papers in Economics, University of Colorado, Working Paper 00-09.
- Paltsev S., (2001). "The Kyoto Protocol: Regional and Sectoral Contributions to the Carbon Leakage." *The Energy Journal*, 2001, 22(4), 53-79.
- Paltsev S., J. Reilly, H. Jacoby, A.D. Ellerman, and K.H. Tay, (2003). Emissions Trading to Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions in the United States: The McCain-Lieberman Proposal. MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, Cambridge, MA, Report 97.
- Paltsev S., J. Reilly, H. Jacoby, and K.H. Tay, (2004). The Cost of Kyoto Protocol Targets: The Case of Japan. MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, Cambridge, MA, Report 112.
- Reilly J., R. Prinn, J. Harnisch, J. Fitzmaurice, H. Jacoby, D. Kicklighter, J. Melillo, P. Stone, A. Sokolov, and C. Wang, (1999). "Multi-Gas Assessment of the Kyoto Protocol." *Nature*, 401, 549-555.
- Victor D.G., N. Nakicenovic, and N. Victor (1998). *The Kyoto Protocol Carbon Bubble: Implications for Russia, Ukraine and Emission Trading.* IIASA Interim Report IR-98-094.
- Weyant, J. and J. Hill, 1999. "Introduction and Overview, The Costs of the Kyoto Protocol: A Multi-Model Evaluation." *The Energy Journal*, Special Issue, vii-xliv.
- World Bank, Energy & Infrastructure Department Europe and Central Asia Region and Carbon Finance Unit, (2004). Options for Designing A Green Investment Scheme for Bulgaria. (http://carbonfinance.org/docs/BulgariaGreeningAAUsPaper.pdf).

REPORT SERIES of the **MIT** Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change

- 1. Uncertainty in Climate Change Policy Analysis Jacoby & Prinn December 1994
- 2. Description and Validation of the MIT Version of the GISS 2D Model Sokolov & Stone June 1995
- 3. Responses of Primary Production and Carbon Storage to Changes in Climate and Atmospheric CO₂ Concentration *Xiao et al.* Oct 1995
- 4. Application of the Probabilistic Collocation Method for an Uncertainty Analysis Webster et al. Jan. 1996
- 5. World Energy Consumption and CO₂ Emissions: 1950-2050 Schmalensee et al. April 1996
- 6. The MIT Emission Prediction and Policy Analysis (EPPA) Model Yang et al. May 1996
- 7. Integrated Global System Model for Climate Policy Analysis Prinn et al. June 1996 (superseded by No. 36)
- 8. Relative Roles of Changes in CO₂ and Climate to Equilibrium Responses of Net Primary Production and Carbon Storage *Xiao et al.* June 1996
- 9. CO₂ Emissions Limits: Economic Adjustments and the Distribution of Burdens Jacoby et al. July 1997
- **10**. Modeling the Emissions of N₂O & CH₄ from the Terrestrial Biosphere to the Atmosphere *Liu* August 1996
- 11. Global Warming Projections: Sensitivity to Deep Ocean Mixing Sokolov & Stone September 1996
- **12**. Net Primary Production of Ecosystems in China and its Equilibrium Responses to Climate Changes Xiao et al. November 1996
- 13. Greenhouse Policy Architectures and Institutions Schmalensee November 1996
- 14. What Does Stabilizing Greenhouse Gas Concentrations Mean? Jacoby et al. November 1996
- 15. Economic Assessment of CO₂ Capture and Disposal Eckaus et al. December 1996
- 16. What Drives Deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon? Pfaff December 1996
- 17. A Flexible Climate Model For Use In Integrated Assessments Sokolov & Stone March 1997
- 18. Transient Climate Change and Potential Croplands of the World in the 21st Century Xiao et al. May 1997
- 19. Joint Implementation: Lessons from Title IV's Voluntary Compliance Programs Atkeson June 1997
- **20.** Parameterization of Urban Sub-grid Scale Processes in Global Atmospheric Chemistry Models *Calbo et al.* July 1997
- 21. Needed: A Realistic Strategy for Global Warming Jacoby, Prinn & Schmalensee August 1997
- 22. Same Science, Differing Policies; The Saga of Global Climate Change Skolnikoff August 1997
- 23. Uncertainty in the Oceanic Heat and Carbon Uptake & their Impact on Climate Projections Sokolov et al. September 1997
- 24. A Global Interactive Chemistry and Climate Model Wang, Prinn & Sokolov September 1997
- 25. Interactions Among Emissions, Atmospheric Chemistry and Climate Change Wang & Prinn Sept. 1997
- 26. Necessary Conditions for Stabilization Agreements Yang & Jacoby October 1997
- 27. Annex I Differentiation Proposals: Implications for Welfare, Equity and Policy Reiner & Jacoby Oct. 1997
- **28. Transient Climate Change and Net Ecosystem Production of the Terrestrial Biosphere** *Xiao et al.* November 1997
- 29. Analysis of CO₂ Emissions from Fossil Fuel in Korea: 1961–1994 Choi November 1997
- 30. Uncertainty in Future Carbon Emissions: A Preliminary Exploration Webster November 1997
- **31. Beyond Emissions Paths:** *Rethinking the Climate Impacts of Emissions Protocols Webster & Reiner* November 1997
- 32. Kyoto's Unfinished Business Jacoby, Prinn & Schmalensee June 1998
- 33. Economic Development and the Structure of the Demand for Commercial Energy Judson et al. April 1998
- 34. Combined Effects of Anthropogenic Emissions & Resultant Climatic Changes on Atmospheric OH Wang & Prinn April 1998
- 35. Impact of Emissions, Chemistry, and Climate on Atmospheric Carbon Monoxide Wang & Prinn April 1998
- **36. Integrated Global System Model for Climate Policy Assessment:** *Feedbacks and Sensitivity Studies Prinn et al.* June 1998
- 37. Quantifying the Uncertainty in Climate Predictions Webster & Sokolov July 1998
- 38. Sequential Climate Decisions Under Uncertainty: An Integrated Framework Valverde et al. Sept. 1998
- 39. Uncertainty in Atmospheric CO₂ (Ocean Carbon Cycle Model Analysis) Holian Oct. 1998 (superseded by No. 80)
- **40**. Analysis of Post-Kyoto CO₂ Emissions Trading Using Marginal Abatement Curves Ellerman & Decaux October 1998

REPORT SERIES of the **MIT** Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change

- **41.** The Effects on Developing Countries of the Kyoto Protocol and CO₂ Emissions Trading Ellerman et al. November 1998
- 42. Obstacles to Global CO, Trading: A Familiar Problem Ellerman November 1998
- 43. The Uses and Misuses of Technology Development as a Component of Climate Policy Jacoby Nov. 1998
- 44. Primary Aluminum Production: Climate Policy, Emissions and Costs Harnisch et al. December 1998
- 45. Multi-Gas Assessment of the Kyoto Protocol Reilly et al. January 1999
- **46**. **From Science to Policy:** *The Science-Related Politics of Climate Change Policy in the U.S. Skolnikoff* January 1999
- **47**. **Constraining Uncertainties in Climate Models Using Climate Change Detection Techniques** *Forest et al.* April 1999
- 48. Adjusting to Policy Expectations in Climate Change Modeling Shackley et al. May 1999
- 49. Toward a Useful Architecture for Climate Change Negotiations Jacoby et al. May 1999
- 50. A Study of the Effects of Natural Fertility, Weather and Productive Inputs in Chinese Agriculture Eckaus & Tso July 1999
- 51. Japanese Nuclear Power and the Kyoto Agreement Babiker, Reilly & Ellerman August 1999
- 52. Interactive Chemistry and Climate Models in Global Change Studies Wang & Prinn September 1999
- 53. Developing Country Effects of Kyoto-Type Emissions Restrictions Babiker & Jacoby October 1999
- 54. Model Estimates of the Mass Balance of the Greenland and Antarctic Ice Sheets Bugnion October 1999
- 55. Changes in Sea-Level Associated with Modifications of Ice Sheets over 21st Century Bugnion Oct. 1999
- 56. The Kyoto Protocol and Developing Countries Babiker, Reilly & Jacoby October 1999
- **57.** Can EPA Regulate Greenhouse Gases Before the Senate Ratifies the Kyoto Protocol? *Bugnion & Reiner* November 1999
- 58. Multiple Gas Control Under the Kyoto Agreement Reilly, Mayer & Harnisch March 2000
- 59. Supplementarity: An Invitation for Monopsony? Ellerman & Sue Wing April 2000
- 60. A Coupled Atmosphere-Ocean Model of Intermediate Complexity Kamenkovich et al. May 2000
- 61. Effects of Differentiating Climate Policy by Sector: A U.S. Example Babiker et al. May 2000
- 62. Constraining Climate Model Properties Using Optimal Fingerprint Detection Methods Forest et al. May 2000
- 63. Linking Local Air Pollution to Global Chemistry and Climate Mayer et al. June 2000
- 64. The Effects of Changing Consumption Patterns on the Costs of Emission Restrictions Lahiri et al. Aug. 2000
- 65. Rethinking the Kyoto Emissions Targets Babiker & Eckaus August 2000
- 66. Fair Trade and Harmonization of Climate Change Policies in Europe Viguier September 2000
- 67. The Curious Role of "Learning" in Climate Policy: Should We Wait for More Data? Webster October 2000
- 68. How to Think About Human Influence on Climate Forest, Stone & Jacoby October 2000
- 69. Tradable Permits for Greenhouse Gas Emissions: A primer with reference to Europe Ellerman Nov. 2000
- 70. Carbon Emissions and The Kyoto Commitment in the European Union Viguier et al. February 2001
- **71. The MIT Emissions Prediction and Policy Analysis Model:** *Revisions, Sensitivities and Results Babiker et al.* February 2001
- 72. Cap and Trade Policies in the Presence of Monopoly and Distortionary Taxation Fullerton & Metcalf March 2001
- 73. Uncertainty Analysis of Global Climate Change Projections Webster et al. March 2001 (superseded by No. 95)
- 74. The Welfare Costs of Hybrid Carbon Policies in the European Union Babiker et al. June 2001
- **75. Feedbacks Affecting the Response of the Thermohaline Circulation to Increasing CO₂** Kamenkovich et al. July 2001
- **76**. **CO₂ Abatement by Multi-fueled Electric Utilities:** *An Analysis Based on Japanese Data Ellerman & Tsukada* July 2001
- 77. Comparing Greenhouse Gases Reilly, Babiker & Mayer July 2001
- **78.** Quantifying Uncertainties in Climate System Properties using Recent Climate Observations *Forest et al.* July 2001
- 79. Uncertainty in Emissions Projections for Climate Models Webster et al. August 2001
- **80.** Uncertainty in Atmospheric CO₂ Predictions from a Global Ocean Carbon Cycle Model *Holian et al.* September 2001

REPORT SERIES of the MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change

- 81. A Comparison of the Behavior of AO GCMs in Transient Climate Change Experiments Sokolov et al. Dec 2001
- 82. The Evolution of a Climate Regime: Kyoto to Marrakech Babiker, Jacoby & Reiner February 2002
- 83. The "Safety Valve" and Climate Policy Jacoby & Ellerman February 2002
- 84. A Modeling Study on the Climate Impacts of Black Carbon Aerosols Wang March 2002
- 85. Tax Distortions and Global Climate Policy Babiker, Metcalf & Reilly May 2002
- 86. Incentive-based Approaches for Mitigating GHG Emissions: Issues and Prospects for India Gupta June 2002
- 87. Deep-Ocean Heat Uptake in an Ocean GCM with Idealized Geometry Huang, Stone & Hill September 2002
- 88. The Deep-Ocean Heat Uptake in Transient Climate Change Huang et al. September 2002
- **89.** Representing Energy Technologies in Top-down Economic Models using Bottom-up Info *McFarland et al.* October 2002
- 90. Ozone Effects on Net Primary Production and Carbon Sequestration in the U.S. Using a Biogeochemistry Model Felzer et al. November 2002
- 91. Exclusionary Manipulation of Carbon Permit Markets: A Laboratory Test Carlén November 2002
- 92. An Issue of Permanence: Assessing the Effectiveness of Temporary Carbon Storage Herzog et al. Dec. 2002
- 93. Is International Emissions Trading Always Beneficial? Babiker et al. December 2002
- 94. Modeling Non-CO₂ Greenhouse Gas Abatement Hyman et al. December 2002
- 95. Uncertainty Analysis of Climate Change and Policy Response Webster et al. December 2002
- 96. Market Power in International Carbon Emissions Trading: A Laboratory Test Carlén January 2003
- **97**. Emissions Trading to Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions in the U.S.: *The McCain-Lieberman Proposal Paltsev et al.* June 2003
- **98**. **Russia's Role in the Kyoto Protocol** *Bernard et al.* June 2003
- 99. Thermohaline Circulation Stability: A Box Model Study Lucarini & Stone June 2003
- 100. Absolute vs. Intensity-Based Emissions Caps Ellerman & Sue Wing July 2003
- 101. Technology Detail in a Multi-Sector CGE Model: Transport Under Climate Policy Schafer & Jacoby July 2003
- 102. Induced Technical Change and the Cost of Climate Policy Sue Wing September 2003
- 103. Past and Future Effects of Ozone on Net Primary Production and Carbon Sequestration Using a Global Biogeochemical Model Felzer et al. (revised) January 2004
- **104.** A Modeling Analysis of Methane Exchanges Between Alaskan Ecosystems and the Atmosphere *Zhuang et al.* November 2003
- 105. Analysis of Strategies of Companies under Carbon Constraint Hashimoto January 2004
- 106. Climate Prediction: The Limits of Ocean Models Stone February 2004
- 107. Informing Climate Policy Given Incommensurable Benefits Estimates Jacoby February 2004
- **108.** Methane Fluxes Between Ecosystems & Atmosphere at High Latitudes During the Past Century *Zhuang* et al. March 2004
- **109**. Sensitivity of Climate to Diapycnal Diffusivity in the Ocean Dalan et al. May 2004
- 110. Stabilization and Global Climate Policy Sarofim et al. July 2004
- 111. Technology and Technical Change in the MIT EPPA Model Jacoby et al. July 2004
- 112. The Cost of Kyoto Protocol Targets: The Case of Japan Paltsev et al. July 2004
- **113.** Economic Benefits of Air Pollution Regulation in the USA: An Integrated Approach Yang et al. (revised) January 2005
- **114**. The Role of Non-CO₂ Greenhouse Gases in Climate Policy: Analysis Using the MIT IGSM Reilly et al. Aug 2004
- **115. Future United States Energy Security Concerns** *Deutch* September 2004
- 116. Explaining Long-Run Changes in the Energy Intensity of the U.S. Economy Sue Wing September 2004
- **117**. Modeling the Transport Sector: The Role of Existing Fuel Taxes in Climate Policy Paltsev et al. Nov. 2004
- 118. Effects of Air Pollution Control on Climate Prinn et al. January 2005
- **119.** Does Model Sensitivity to Changes in CO₂ Provide a Measure of Sensitivity to the Forcing of Different Nature? *Sokolov* March 2005
- 120. What Should the Government Do To Encourage Technical Change in the Energy Sector? Deutch May 2005
- 121. Climate Change Taxes and Energy Efficiency in Japan Kasahara et al. May 2005